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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT- 1SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
 )ALAN RAPOPORT, On Behalf of Himself and All )Others Similarly Situated, ) CIVIL ACT N( .5 7 fig)
 Plaintiff, ) CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT) FOR VIOLATIONS OF
 vs. ) FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS)
 ASIA ELECTRONICS HOLDING CO., INC., DU ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED e,tQUINGSONG, FAN BAIYAN, L; LIANJIE, )BARINGTON CAPITAL GROUP, L.P., andVALUE INVESTING PARTNERS, INC., )
 —
 Defendants. ) -
 $S365-PC'
 NATURE OF THE ACTION
 1. This is a federal securities law class action that arises from an initial public
 offering (the "IPO") of the common stock of Asia Electronics Holding Co., Inc. ("Asia
 Electronics" or the "Company") that took place on or about eptembe; 2, 1997.
 JURISDICTION AND VENUE
 2. The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 11, 12(a)(2)
 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") [15 U.S.C. §§ 77k,
 771(2) and 77o].
 3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant
 to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337 and Section 22 of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v].
 4. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 22 of the Securities Act
 and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). Substantial acts in furtherance of the IPO occurred within this
 District, and Asia Electronics has designated an agent for service within this District.
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 5. In connection with the acts and omissions alleged in this complaint,
 defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce,
 including, but not limited to, the mails, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities
 of the national securities markets.
 PARTIES
 6. Plaintiff Alan Rapoport purchased Asia Electronics common stock during
 the Class Period, as set forth in the accompanying certification which is incorporated herein by
 reference, and was damaged thereby.
 7. Defendant Asia Electronics is a British Virgin Islands corporation with its
 principal executive offices c/o Harney, Westwood & Riegels, P.O. Box 71, Road Town, Tortola,
 British Virgin Islands.' Asia Electronics designs, develops and manufacturers deflection yokes
 for sale to original equipment manufacturers of televisions and computer monitors. Deflection
 yokes are devices that are attached to color picture tubes in televisions and computer monitors,
 which control light beams and create visual images. The Company's major customers include
 Daewoo Group, Toshiba, Sharp, Sanyo, Hitachi, Samsung, and Mitsubishi, among others.
 Company operations are based in the city of Xianyang, Shaanxi Province, China.
 8. (a) The individual defendants (thendividual Defendants"), at all times
 relevant to this action, served in the capacities listed below and received substantial
 compensation:
 Asia Electronics has listed as its agent for service: CT Corporation Systems, 1633Broadway, New York, NY.
 -2-
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Name Position
 Du Quingsong Chairman of the Board, Chief ExecutiveOfficer, and Director
 Mary Xia Authorized representative in the UnitedStates, and a Board member
 Fan Baiyan2Chief Financial Officer
 Li Lianjie Vice Chairman, Chief Operating Officer,and a Board member
 (b) The Individual Defendants, as senior officers and/or directors of Asia
 Electronics, were controlling persons of the Company. Each exercised his power and influence
 to cause Asia Electronics to engage in the acts and practices complained of herein. Each of the
 Individual Defendants either individually or through an attorney-in-fact signed the Registration
 Statement.
 9. Defendants Barington Capital Group, L.P. and Value Investing Partners,
 Inc. (collectively, the "Underwriter Defendants") substantially participated in the violations
 alleged herein through their involvement in the IPO of Asia Electronics' securities. The
 Underwriter Defendants were at all times entities engaged in the business of investment banking,
 underwriting and selling securities to the investing public. The Underwriter Defendants were the
 lead underwriters of the IPO, for which they received substantial fees. Prior to the IPO, the
 Underwriter Defendants were required to and did conduct an investigation into the business,
 operations, prospects, financial condition and accounting and management control systems of
 Asia Electronics, known as a "due diligence investigation." In the course of such investigation,
 the Underwriter Defendants would have obtained knowledge of the facts alleged herein if they
 At some point after the IPO, Baiyan was replaced as the Company's CFO, by LiLei.
 -3-
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had acted with reasonable care. At all relevant times, defendants had a duty to promptly
 disseminate truthful and accurate information with respect to Asia Electronics and its affairs.
 SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
 Background Facts
 10. Asia Electronics is a British Virgin Islands Company, incorporated in
 January 1996, that develops and manufacturers deflection yokes for sale to manufacturers of
 color televisions and computer monitors. Deflection yokes are electronic devices attached to
 color picture tubes in television sets and computer monitors. Deflection yokes use
 electromagnetic forces to aim red, green and blue light beams at a screen in the front of the
 monitor or television screen. When light beams converge, various levels of intensity within each
 beam create a picture on the screen, which varies in movement, color and shape according to the
 video signal. All of the Company's sales are to original equipment manufacturers which
 integrate the Company's deflection yokes into finished goods, or re-market them to other
 equipment manufacturers. The Company's customers include Daewoo Corporation, Sanyo
 Electric Co., Sharp-roxy Electronics Corp., Toshiba Corporation and IRICO Group, among
 others. According to the Company, Asia Electronics is one of the largest independent
 manufacturers of deflection yokes in the world.
 11. Asia Electronics went public via an initial public offering of common stock
 on September 25, 1997. Since that time, the Company has posted steadily improving financial
 results and has completed numerous acquisitions of other companies -- using primarily the cash
 raised during the IPO, as consideration for the acquisitions. The apparent success of the
 Company was reflected in the price of Asia Electronics common stock, which rose from the
 -4-
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offering price of $8.00 per share, on September 25, 1997, to $14.13 per share on October 22,
 1997.
 Materially False and MisleadingRegistration Statement And Prospectus
 12. On September 25, 1997, Asia Electronics conducted and completed an 1PO
 of common stock, pursuant to a registration statement (the "Registration Statement") and
 prospectus (the "Prospectus"), selling 4.6 million shares of common stock for $8.00 per share,
 thereby raising $36.8 million, $34.2 million of which went directly to the Company, the
 remainder of which went to pay the Underwriters. The IPO was co-managed by Barington
 Capital Group, L.C. ("Barington") and Value Investing Partners, Inc. ("Value Partners"). In
 connection with the IPO, the defendants, and other high-level officers of Asia Electronics, met
 with institutional investors and other market participants to promote the IPO.
 13. Also, on September 25, 1997, the Registration Statement and Prospectus,
 issued in connection with the IPO, were declared effective by the SEC and the Company (and
 certain selling shareholders) sold, through the Underwriters, 4,600,000 shares of Asia Electronics
 common stock for $8.00 per share or total proceeds of $36,800,000. In addition, the
 Underwriters were granted a 45-day over-allotment option to purchase an additional 690,000
 shares Of Asia Electronics common stock. The Prospectus was materially false and-misleading
 for several reasons.
 14. The Prospectus portrayed the Company as being in compliance with all
 laws, both domestic and international (i.e., complaint with the laws of China and the British
 Virgin Islands), stating in pertinent part, the following:
 The Chinese legal system is based on written statutes and, unlikecommon law systems, decided legal cases in China have littleprecedential value. In 1979, China began the process of developing
 -5-
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its legal system by undertaking to promulgate a comprehensivesystem of laws. On December 1993, the National People'sCongress promulgated the Company Law of The People's Republicof China. Pursuant to Company Law, the State Council issued the"PRC Special Regulations on Oversees Offering and Listing ofShares by Joint Stock Limited Companies" to regulate joint stocklimited companies that offer and list their shares oversees. TheCompany Law, the rules and regulations promulgated under it andlegal prescriptions relating to Chinese companies provide the coreof the legal framework governing the corporate behavior ofcompanies, such as the Company's subsidiaries, and their directors and shareholders. Because these laws, re gulations and legalrequirements are relatively recent, their interpretations andenforcement involve si gnificant uncertainty. [Emphasis added.]
 This statement was materially false and misleading because it failed to disclose that when the
 Company filed its Prospectus and Registration Statement it was in violation of the "PRC Special
 Regulations on Oversees Offering and Listin g of Shares by Joint Stock Limited Companies (the
 "Special Regulations - ). Therefore, at the time of these filings, and at the time of the offering,
 the Company lacked the authority under Chinese law to sell shares of the Company in the United
 States.
 15. The Prospectus portrayed the Company as being in compliance with all
 laws, both domestic and international (i.e., complaint with the laws of China and the British
 Virgin Islands). The Company encouraged investor reliance upon the alleged compliance by
 stating, among other things, the following:
 Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Company as tothe U.S. law by Proskauer Rose LLP, New York, and as to China law by Jun He Law Office, Beijing, Peoples Republic of China. The validity of the shares of Common Stock offered by thisProspectus and certain other le gal matters are being passed on forthe Company by Harney, Westwood & Rie gels as to British VirginIslands Law. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for theUnderwriters by Kramer, Levin, Naftalis & Frankel, New York, New York and with respect to matters of Chinese law, by theGreat Wall Law Offices, Shanghai. People's Republic of China[Emphasis added.]
 -6-
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This statement was materially false and misleading because it failed to disclose that when the
 Company filed its Prospectus and Registration Statement it was in violation of the "PRC Special
 Regulations on Oversees Offering and Listing of Shares by Joint Stock Limited Companies (the
 "Special Regulations"). Therefore, at the time of these filings, and at the time of the offering,
 the Company lacked the authority under Chinese law to sell shares of the Company in the United
 States.
 16. The Prospectus encouraged foreign reliance upon the relatively new, but
 rapidly growing body of Chinese corporate law, and the Company's compliance therewith. The
 Company created the false and misleading impression that Chinese law was advanced to the point
 that foreign investors could enjoy substantial protection under Chinese corporate law, and that
 the Company was in compliance with such laws. This misplaced reliance was again encouraged
 by the false and misleading Prospectus which stated, in part, the following:
 The PRC's legal system is based on written statutes under whichprior court decisions may be cited as authority but do not havebinding precedence. The PRC's legal system is relatively new, andthe government is still in the process of developing acomprehensive system of laws, a process that has been ongoingsince 1979. Considerable progress has been made in thepromuleation of laws and regulations dealing with economic matters such as corporate organization and governance, foreigninvestment. commerce, taxation and trade. Such legalization hassignificantly enhanced the protection afforded to foreign investors. However, experience with respect to the implementation,interpretation and enforcement of such laws is limited. [Emphasisadded.]
 This statement was materially false and misleadin g because it failed to disclose that when the
 Company filed its Prospectus and Registration Statement it was in violation of the "PRC Special
 Regulations on Oversees Offering and Listing of Shares by Joint Stock Limited Companies (the
 "Special Regulations - ). Therefore, at the time of these filings, and at the time of the offeTing,
 -7-
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the Company lacked the authority under Chinese law to sell shares of the Company in the United
 States.
 17. The Prospectus portrayed the Company as being in compliance with all
 laws, both domestic and international (i.e., complaint with the laws of China and the British
 Virgin Islands). The Company encouraged investor reliance upon the alleged compliance by
 stating, among other things, the following:
 The Companies conduct their operations in the PRC andaccordingly are subject to special considerations and significantrisks not typically associated with investments in equity securitiesof United States and Western European companies. These includethe risks associated with, amon g other things, the political.economic, le gal environments and foreign currency exchange.These risks are described further [herein].
 This statement was materially false and misleading because it failed to disclose that when the
 Company filed its Prospectus and Registration Statement it was in violation of the "PRC Special
 Regulations on Oversees Offerin g and Listing of Shares by Joint Stock Limited Companies (the
 "Special Regulations"). Therefore, at the time of these filings, and at the time of the offering.
 the Company lacked the authority under Chinese law to sell shares of the Company in the United
 States. The fact that the Company misrepresented its authority to sell stock in the United States,
 when in fact it did sell such stock, is not the type of risk anticipated by the cautionary statement
 reprinted above.
 The Truth Begins To Emerge
 18. On July 16, 1998, Asia Electronics shocked the market by issuing a press
 release, published on Business Wire, in which it announced that the Company had been informed
 that its Chairman, defendant Du, was being questioned by the Disciplinary Committee of the
 Municipal Communist Party in Xianyan g.. China, where Asia Electronics' operatic:1s are
 -8-
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conducted. The Company reported that it had not been in contact with Du during his
 questioning. which had begun earlier in the month.
 19. The market's reaction to the July 16, 1998, announcement was quick and
 decisive. On almost 8 times average trading volume, the market price of Asia Electronic
 common stock declined almost 30% the next trading day, July 17, 1998, as the price of Asia
 Electronics common stock fell from $3.50 per share to $2.88 per share.
 20. About a week later, on July 24, 1998, the Company announced additional
 disturbing news. On this day the Company issued a press release, published on Business Wire
 in which it announced that not only had defendant Wu been detained in China, but also that the
 Company's Chief Financial Officer, Li Lei, had also been detained for questioning by the
 Disciplinary Committee, and he too was out of communication with the Company.
 21. For shareholders. the most disturbing news was yet to come. On July 24,
 1998, the Washington Post reported that the reason that the CEO and CFO had been detained
 by the Disciplinary Committee was because the September 25. 1997 IPO was in violation of
 Chinese law. The Post reported that. la]ccordina to an official for the party's Propaganda
 Bureau in Xianyana Du was detained July 2 because Asia Electronic's public offerina on the
 Nasdaq Stock Market broke Chinese_law. The official, reached by telephone from Beijing, said
 local investi gators launched a probe following a request from China's Stock Exchange Executive
 Council, which oversees China's fledgling capital markets." According to the Post. an official
 at the Beijin g -based Stock Exchange Executive Council said it was not clear whether Asia
 Electronics followed Chinese law when its shares were listed on the Nasdaq in September.
 22. Again the market's reaction to the disturbing news about Asia Electronics
 was quick and decisive. Again on significant volume, the market price of Asia EleLlif.ir,;L•
 -9-
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common stock declined to a new 52 week low of $2.38 per share. As the market digested this
 news over the next two or three trading days the market for Asia Electronics common stock
 collapsed, as the stock traded to another 52 week low of $1.63 on July 29, 1998.
 No Safe Harbor
 23. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under
 certain circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pleaded in this
 complaint. The specific statements pleaded herein were not identified as "forward-looking
 statements" when made. Nor was it stated with respect to any of the statements forming the
 basis of this complaint that actual results "could differ materially from those projected." To the
 extent there were any forward-lookin g statements, there were no meaningful cautionary
 statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
 those in the purportedly forward-looking statements. Alternatively, to the extent that the
 statutory safe harbor does apply to any forward-looking statements pleaded herein, defendants
 are liable for those false forward-looking statements because at the time each of those forward-
 looking was made the particular speaker knew that the particular forward-looking statement was
 false, and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized and/or approved by an executive
 officer of Asia Electronics who knew that those statements were false when made.
 PLAINTIFF'S CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
 24. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of
 Civil Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of all persons who purchased
 or otherwise acquired Asia Electronics common stock pursuant or traceable to the IPO which
 took place on September 25, 1997 (the "Class Period"), and who were damaged thereby.
 Excluded from the Class are defendants. members of the immediate family of each of the
 - 10 -
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Individual Defendants, any subsidiary or affiliate of Asia Electronics and the directors, officers
 and employees of Asia Electronics or its subsidiaries or affiliates, or any entity in which any
 excluded person has a controlling interest, and the legal representatives, heirs, successors and
 assigns of any excluded person.
 25. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
 impracticable. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to plaintiff at this time and
 can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, plaintiff believes that there are thousands
 of members of the Class located throughout the United States. As of December 31, 1997, there
 were reportedly more than 10 million shares of Asia Electronics common stock outstanding.
 4.6 million share of which were issued by the Company in the September 1997 IPO. An
 additional 690,000 shares were granted to Underwriters in a 45-clay over-allotment option, which
 allowed Underwriters to purchase the additional shares. Prior to the September 1997 IPO, there
 was no public market for Asia Electronics common stock. Throughout the Class Period. Asia
 Electronics common stock was actively traded on the Nasdaq National Market System. Record
 owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records maintained by Asia
 Electronics and/or its transfer a gents and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail,
 using a form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions.
 26. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the other members of the
 Class as all members of the Class were similarly affected by defendants' wrongful conduct in
 violation of federal law and state law that is complained of herein.
 27. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of
 the Class and have retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.
 - 11 -
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28. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and
 predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the
 questions of law and fact common to the Class are:
 - (i) whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants' acts
 and omissions as alleged herein;
 (ii) whether defendants participated in and pursued the common course
 of conduct complained of herein;
 (iii) whether the Registration Statement and Prospectus disseminated to the
 investing public and the Company's shareholders durin g the Class Period misrepresented material
 facts about the business, finances, financial condition and prospects of Asia Electronics; and
 (iv) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and
 the proper measure of damages.
 29. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and
 efficient adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Further-
 more, as the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense
 and burden of individual liti gation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually
 redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this suit as
 a class action.
 BASIS OF ALLEGATIONS
 30. Plaintiff has alleged the foregoing based upon the investigation of his
 counsel, which included a review of Asia Electronics SEC filings, regulatory filings and reports,
 securities analysts reports and advisories about the Company, press releases and other public
 statements issued by the Company, media reports about the Company, and believe that substantial
 - 1") -
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additional evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable
 opportunity for discovery.
 COUNT I
 [Against MI Defendants For ViolationsOf Section 11 Of The Securities Actl
 31. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above.
 32. This Count is brought pursuant to Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15
 U.S.C. § 77k, on behalf of the Class, against all defendants.
 33. The Registration Statement for the IPO was inaccurate and misleading.
 contained untrue statements of material facts, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the
 statements made not misleading, and concealed and failed adequately to disclose material facts
 as described above.
 34. The Company is the registrant for the IPO. The defendants named herein
 were responsible for the contents and dissemination of the Registration Statement and the
 Prospectus.
 35. As issuer of the shares, Asia Electronics is strictly liable to plaintiffs and
 the Class for the misstatements and omissions.
 36. None of the defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or
 possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Registration
 Statement and the Prospectus were true and without omissions of any material facts and were not
 misleading.
 37. Defendants issued, caused to be issued and participated in the issuance of
 materially false and misleading written statements to the investing public which were contained
 in the Prospectus, which misrepresented or failed to disclose, inter alia. the facts set forth above.
 - 13 -
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By reasons of the conduct herein alleged, each defendant violated, and/or controlled a person
 who violated, Section 11 of the Securities Act.
 38. Plaintiff acquired Asia Electronics shares issued pursuant to, or traceable
 to, and in reliance on, the Registration Statement.
 39. Plaintiff and the Class have sustained damages. The value of Asia
 Electronics shares has declined substantially subsequent to and due to defendants' violations.
 40. At the times they purchased Asia Electronics shares, plaintiff and other
 members of the Class were without knowled ge of the facts concerning the wrongful conduct
 alleged herein and could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to July 24, 1998. Less
 than one year elapsed from the time that plaintiffs discovered or reasonably could have
 discovered the facts upon which this complaint is based to the time that plaintiffs filed their
 Complaint. Less than three years elapsed from the time that the securities upon which this Count
 is brought were bona fide offered to the public to the time plaintiffs filed their Complaint.
 COUNT II
 [Against All Defendants For Violations OfSection 12(a)(21 Of The Securities Actj
 41. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above.
 42. This Count is brought by plaintiff pursuant to Section 12(a)(2) of the
 Securities Act on behalf of all purchasers of Asia Electronics shares in connection with, and
 traceable to, the IPO.
 43. Defendants were sellers, offerors, and/or solicitors of sales of the shares
 offered pursuant to the September 25, 1997 Prospectus.
 44. The Prospectus contained untrue statements of material facts, omitted to
 state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and concealed and failed
 - 14 -
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to disclose material facts. Defendants' actions of solicitation included participatin g in the
 preparation of the false and misleading Prospectus.
 45. The defendants owed to the purchasers of Asia Electronics shares, including
 plaintiff and other class member purchasers of Asia Electronics shares, the duty to make a
 reasonable and diligent investigation of the statements contained in the IPO materials, including
 the Prospectus contained therein, to insure that such statements were true and that there was no
 omission to state a material fact required to be stated in order to make the statements contained
 therein not misleading . These defendants knew of, or in the exercise of reasonable care should
 have known of, the misstatements and omissions contained in the Offering materials as set forth
 above.
 46. Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired
 Asia Electronics shares pursuant to and traceable to the defective Prospectus. Plaintiff did not
 know, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence could not have known, of the untruths and
 omissions contained in the Prospectus.
 47. Plaintiff, individually and representatively, hereby offer to tender to
 defendants those securities which plaintiff and other Class members continue to own, on behalf
 of all members of the Class who continue to own such securities, in return for the consideration
 paid for those securities together with interest thereon.
 48. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, these defendants violated, and/or
 controlled a person who violated, § 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act. Accordingly, plaintiff and
 members of the Class who hold Asia Electronics shares purchased in the IPO have the right to
 rescind and recover the consideration paid for their Asia Electronics shares and, hereby elect to
 - 15 -
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rescind and tender their Asia Electronics shares to the defendants sued herein. Plaintiff and Class
 members who have sold their Asia Electronics shares are entitled to rescissory damages.
 49. Less than three years elapsed from the time that the securities upon which
 this Count is brought were sold to the public to the time of the filing of this action. Less than
 one year elapsed from the time when plaintiff discovered or reasonably could have discovered
 the facts upon which this Count is based to the time of the filing of this action.
 COUNT III
 [Against The Individual Defendants ForViolations of Section 15 of the Securities Acti
 50. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above.
 51. This Count is brought pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act against
 the Individual Defendants.
 52. Each of the Individual Defendants was a control person of Asia Electronics
 by virtue of their positions as directors and/or as senior offices of Asia Electronics. The
 Individual Defendants also served on Asia Electronics Board of Directors. Finally, the
 Individual Defendants each had a series of direct and/or indirect business and/or personal
 relationships with other directors and/or major shareholders of Asia Electronics.
 53. Each of the Individual Defendants was a culpable participant in the
 violations of Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act alleged in Counts I and II above,
 based on their having signed the Registration Statement and having otherwise participated in the
 process which allowed the Offering to be successfully completed.
 - 16 -

Page 17
                        

'WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows:
 (i) Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating plaintiff
 as Lead Plaintiff and certifying plaintiff as class representative under Rule 23 of the Federal
 Rules of Civil Procedure and their counsel as Lead Counsel;
 (ii) Awarding compensatory damages in favor of plaintiff and the other Class
 members against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of
 defendants' wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon;
 (iii) Awarding plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses
 incurred in this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and
 (iv) Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
 JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.
 DATED: New York, New YorkAugust Lt. 1998
 MILBERG WEISS BERSHADHYNES & LERACH LLP
 B :Steven . Schulman (SS 2561)Samuel H. Rudman (SR 7957)Michael A. Swick
 One Pennsylvania PlazaNew York, NY 10119-0165(212) 594-5300
 Attorneys for Plaintiff
 - 17 -
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ScheduleAlan Rapoport Transaction(s) in
 Asia Electronics Holding Co., Inc., Securities
 Purchase(s):
 Date Units Price
 9/25/97 750 shares $ 8.00
 9/25/97 750 shares $ 8.00
 9/25/97 750 shares $ 8.00
 10/01/97 3000 shares $13.94
 10/15/97 250 shares $13.13
 Sale(s):
 Date Units Price
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